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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION '

JAMES R. PAISLEY, JR., a’k/a JAMES R. KELLIER,
A/k/a JAMES R. KELLER, ATLANTIC
PRODUCTIONS USA CORP., CARIBBEAN
TRANSFER AGENCY, LTD.,

Relief Defendants.

T
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, § ; B e ]
: fouAN 2 P08
§ ; : 5
Plaintiff, § | L i
: Ty ;)f“;:;};?:;:q
v. § | Case No.——-- T
§ — e —
THOMAS H. KEESEE, EDUARDO LAUTIERI, § T
FIRST ACCESS FINANCIAL, LLC, §
FIRST ACCESS, INC., §
§
Defendants, § - B
: o
and §
§
§
§
§
§
3
§

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”),
files this Complaint against Defendants First Access Financial, LLC, First Access, Inc., Thomas
H. Keesee and Eduardo Lautieri and Relief Defendants Atlantic Productions USA Corp.,
Caribbean Transfer Agency, Ltd. and James R. Paisley, Jr. and would respectfully show the
Court as follows:

SUMMARY

1: First Access Financial, LLC and First Access, Inc. (collectively “FAF”), through
and at the direction of their principals Thomas H. Keesee and Eduardo Lautieri, have conducted
a fraudulent, unregistered offering and sale of securities in the form of interests in a pooled

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
COMPLAINT
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foreign currency trading account. Using aggressive cold calling, an Internet website, television
infomercials, and paid radio spots, FAF claimed to provide investors access to foreign exchange
(“FOREX") markets at the special “Interbank level” supposedly accessible only to the “most
profitable” and “largest financial institutions in the world.” FAF further claimed to have a crack
“Currency Management Team” with a five-year track record of 100% returns, headed by “a
world-renowned institutional money manager” who 1s a “Top 10 certified and rated trader.”

2 FAF’s claims are simply false. FAF is in fact a five-month-old boiler room outfit
whose real business is deceiving and taking money from investors, paying large commissions to
its principals and funneling the balance to two companies — Atlantic Productions USA Corp. and
Caribbean Transfer Agency, Ltd. — entities controlled by convicted money launderer James R.
Paisley, Jr. Defendants have raised at least $243,000 from investors in at least seven states and
two foreign countries.

3 The Commission, in the interest of protecting the public from such fraudulent
activities, brings this action seeking to preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants from
further violations of the federal securities laws, and seeking an asset freeze order, accounting,
disgorgement of Defendants’ ill-gotten gains, plus prejudgment interest thereon and civil
monetary penalties as allowed by law. The Commission also seeks disgorgement of the investor
monies the Relief Defendants received from Defendants’ scheme as well as a freeze of the Relief
Defendants’ assets, an accounting and other incidental relief against each of the Relief
Defendants.

JURISDICTION

4. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 20(d) and 22(a) of

the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d) and § 77v(a)], and Sections

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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21(d), 21(e) and 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§
78u(d), 78u(e) and 78(aa)]. Venue is proper because many of the transactions, acts, practices
and courses of business described below occurred within the jurisdiction of the Northern District
of Texas.
PARTIES

5. First Access Financial, LLC (“FAF LLC”), is a Florida limited liability
company headquartered in Fort Lauderdale. Essentially, FAF LLC holds investor money and
owns the pooled foreign currency trading account. Day-to-day operating services are provided
by FA Inc. Together with FA Inc., FAF LLC is an issuer of securities in the form of interests in
the pooled foreign currency trading account.

6. First Access, Inc. (“FA Inc.”), a Florida corporation headquartered in Fort
Lauderdale, is the operating company for FAF LLC, providing back-office and day-to-day
services (record-keeping, depositing checks, cold calling investors, scheduling advertisements,

etc.) to or on behalf of FAF LLC.

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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7. Thomas H. Keesee, age 45, of Fort Lauderdale, Florida, is the co-founder and a
director of FAF LLC and the vice-president of FA Inc. Keesee heads FAF’s sales and marketing
operations and is responsible for creating offering documents, communicating directly with
investors, drafting contracts and agreements, writing and approving television and radio
advertisements, supervising cold-callers and approving all materials placed on FAF’s Internet
site. Keesee was a registered representative of a broker-dealer from 1989 to 1992, but currently
is not licensed to sell securities. Before founding FAF, Keesee was a sales agent with an
unrelated company offering foreign currency investments.

8. Eduardo Lautieri, age 39, of Fort Lauderdale, Florida, is co-founder and director
of FAF LLC and President of FA Inc. Lautieri controls FAF’s back-office operations, including
paying bills, accounting for investor funds, forwarding funds to Atlantic Productions and
creating investor account statements. Lautieri also reviewed the offering materials and
advertisements before they were used to solicit investors.

9. James R. Paisley, Jr., age 51, a/k/a James R. Kellier, age 55, and a/k/a James
R. Keller, a Pennsylvania resident, is President of Atlantic Productions and Secretary and
Treasurer of Caribbean Transfer. Paisley, a former police chief, was convicted of money
laundering in the mid-1990s and sentenced to prison. He and his companies received at least
$212,000 of investor funds.

10. Atlantic Productions USA Corp. (“Atlantic Productions™) is a Pennsylvania
corporation with a mail drop-box in Philadelphia as its listed place of business. Paisley, using

the alias James R. Kellier, is the company’s President.

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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11. Caribbean Transfer Agency, Ltd. (“Caribbean Transfer”) is an International
Business Company incorporated and purportedly based in Saint Vincent and the Grenadines,
West Indies. Corporate documents list Paisley as the company’s Secretary and Treasurer.

BACKGROUND FACTS

12. From September 2003 to mid-December 2004, FAF raised over $243,000 from at
least 15 investors, by selling interests in a pooled foreign currency trading account. FAF used
aggressive cold calling, an Internet website, national television commercials and staged radio
programs to solicit potential investors. FAF did not register its offering with the Commission or
any state, and does not expressly rely on any registration exemption. To the contrary, FAF
claims the investments are not securities and, therefore, may be offered without registration.

13. FAF required investors to execute “pooling agreements” so it could commingle
investor funds. Investors also gave FAF “limited power of attorney” over invested funds. FAF
charged an up-front 12% “‘commission” on all investments, an annual 5% “management fee” and
a 25% “incentive bonus fee” on any gains made from trading.

14. FAF’s offering materials and advertisements are replete with misleading claims,
material omissions, and outright falsehoods. Lamenting the supposed “disadvantage[s]”
individuals face when FOREX trading, FAF’s offering materials proclaim that its “proprietary”
pooled managed trading account,

for the first time, allow[] monies to go directly to the FOREX market at the

Interbank level and enjoin [sic] the trading account of a world-renowned

institutional money manager with control over hundreds of millions of

dollars. All middlemen are eliminated and Interbank level pricing is

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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obtained on EVERY trade. Clients’ monies are pooled directly with

institutional monies. [emphasis in original]

These materials also touted FAF’s “Currency Management Team ... directed by a contracted
Top 10 certified and rated trader who is certified by the understood regulator of international
currency traders.” According to FAF, its team “is currently trading for some of the largest
financial institutions in the world” and has posted a five-year track record of 100% annual
returns. FAF represents to investors that 100% of their funds, less a 12% up-front commission
and 5% annual management fee, will be pooled in an omnibus account to trade currency on the
alleged “Interbank”™ market, at supposedly superior prices unavailable to the average investor.

15. In reality, FAF’s claims are false and misleading. FAF itself has no FOREX
trading operations and has never traded in the “Interbank™ currency market, and never could.
Instead, FAF and its principals simply took their commissions off the top and then funneled the
balance to Paisley and his companies, who would actually conduct the FOREX trading. FAF’s
offering materials, in most cases, strongly imply that FAF is in the currency trading business,
when, according to FAF’s principals, they have allegedly contracted with another entity to
actually engage in the currency trades.

16.  FAF claims to have entered into a contract with Caribbean Transfer to trade
currency for its customers. Caribbean Transfer directed FAF to transfer funds to Atlantic
Productions as Caribbean Transfer’s assignee. Paisley represented to Keesee and Lautieri that
Caribbean Transfer was a “Top 10 certified and rated trader” with an entity called “International
Association of Certified Currency Traders,” an entity allegedly claiming a membership of 18,000

foreign currency traders worldwide and based in Paris, France. Paisley further represented to

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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FAF that Caribbean Transfer had a “S year track record of 100% returns” and was trading
currency for some of the largest financial institutions in the world.

17.  While FAF’s own website advises it prospective victims to “Trust but Verify,”
Keesee and Lautieri admitted that the only attempt they made to verify Paisley’s claims was to
try to look up the International Association of Certified Currency Traders on the Internet — which
was unsuccessful and to briefly review trading records that were produced by an alleged
representative of Caribbean Transfer. They were not able to verify the existence of the
“International Association of Certified Currency Traders,” they were not able to verify that it had
18,000 members, they were not able to verify that anyone at Caribbean Transfer was a “Top 10
certified and rated trader,” the were not able to verify that Caribbean Transfer had a 5 year track
record of 100% returns and they were not able to verify that Caribbean Transfer traded currency
for some of the largest financial institutions in the world or any of the other representations
Paisley and Caribbean Transfer allegedly made. Despite the inability to verify any of these
representations, which FAF used, and continues to use, to solicit its investors, FAF continued,
and continues through its website, to tout its FOREX program and the expertise of this alleged
“Top 10 certified and rated trader.” FAF made, and continues to make, these representations
without disclosing to any of its investors or potential investors its inability to “verify” the “trust”
it has placed in Paisley, Caribbean Transfer or Atlantic Productions.

18. FAF transferred at least $212,000 of investor funds to an account controlled by
Atlantic Productions, which in turn is controlled by Paisley using the alias of James R. Kellier.
Of this amount, $100,000 was deposited into a trading account in Atlantic Productions’ name at
Hot Spot FX, an online foreign currency broker that provides access to ordinary spot-market

FOREX trading. Caribbean Transfer was authorized by Atlantic Productions to trade in the Hot

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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Spot FX account. Paisley is identified as the Secretary and Treasurer of Caribbean Transfer on
documents related to the Hot Spot FX account. Paisley actually controlled the Hot Spot FX
account and engaged in foreign currency trades in the account. Rather than génerating large
returns through “Interbank” transactions, however, this purported “Top 10 certified and rated
trader” managed to lose $88,000 in only three months of trading. As to the rest of the transferred
money, Paisley caused Atlantic Productions to return $80,000 to FAF’s accounts a few days
before the filing of this Complaint, apparently due to the Commission’s investigation of this
scheme. The remaining $32,000 was either withdrawn by Paisley or is otherwise missing.
Investors have never been told that their funds were being used in this manner, that what little
FOREX trading has occurred has sustained huge losses or that an ex-convict was in control of

their funds and making investment decisions for their benefit.

CLAIMS

FIRST CLAIM
Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

19.  Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 18 of this
Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

20.  Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in connection
with the purchase and sale of securities, by use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate
commerce and by use of the mails have: (a) employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud;
(b) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary in
order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices and courses of business which operate as a
fraud and deceit upon purchasers, prospective purchasers and other persons.

21. As a part of and in furtherance of their scheme, Defendants, directly and
indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents, promotional
materials, investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which contained untrue
statements of material facts and misrepresentations of material facts, and which omitted to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading, including, but not limited to, those set forth in
Paragraphs 1 through 18 above.

22.  Defendants made the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions
knowingly or with severe recklessness regarding the truth.

23. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated and, unless enjoined, will
continue to violate the provisions of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

SECOND CLAIM
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act

24.  Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 18 of this
Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

25.  Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly, in concert with others, in the offer and
sale of securities, by use of the means and instruments of transportation and communication in
interstate commerce and by use of the mails, have: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to
defraud; (b) obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or

omissions to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in transactions,
practices or courses of business which operate or would operate as a fraud or deceit.

26. As part of and in furtherance of this scheme, Defendants, directly and indirectly,
prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents, promotional materials,
investor and other correspondence, and oral presentations, which contained untrue statements of
material fact and which omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, including, but
not limited to, those statements and omissions set forth in paragraph 1 through 18 above.

27.  Defendants made the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions
knowingly or with severe recklessness with regard for the truth. Defendants were also negligent
in their actions regarding the representations and omissions alleged herein.

28. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated, and unless enjoined, will

continue to violate Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

THIRD CLAIM
Violations of Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act

29.  Plamntiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 18 of this
Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

30. Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly and in concert with others, have been
offering to sell, selling and delivering after sale, certain securities, and have been, directly and
indirectly: (a) making use of the means and instruments of transportation and communication in
interstate commerce and of the mails to sell securities, through the use of written contracts,
offering documents and otherwise; (b) carrying and causing to be carried through the mails and
in interstate commerce by the means and instruments of transportation, such securities for the

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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purpose of sale and for delivery after sale; and (c) making use of the means or instruments of
transportation and communication in interstate commerce and of the mails to offer to sell such
securities.

31.  As described in paragraphs 1 through 18, the Defendants offered and sold
securities to the public through a general solicitation of investors. No registration statements
were ever filed with the Commission or otherwise in effect with respect to these securities.

32, By reason of the foregoing, Defendants have violated and, unless enjoined, will
continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢e(a) and 77¢(c)].

FOURTH CLAIM
Violations of Section 15(a)(1) of The Exchange Act

33. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 18 of this
Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

34, At the times alleged in this Complaint, FA Inc. and Keesee have been in the
business of effecting transactions in securities for the accounts of others.

35. FA Inc. and Keesee made use of the mails and of the means and instrumentalities
of interstate commerce to effect transactions in and to induce or attempt to induce the purchase
of securities.

36. At the times alleged in this Complaint FA Inc. and Keesee were not registered
with the Commission as a broker or dealer, as required by Section 15(a) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 780(a)].

37. By reason of the foregoing, FA Inc. and Keesee have violated and, unless
enjoined, will continue to violate Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §780(a)(1)].

FIFTH CLAIM
Claims Against Relief Defendants as Custodian of Investor Funds

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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38.  Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 18 of this
Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim.

39.  Relief Defendants received funds and property from one or more of the
Defendants, which are the proceeds, or are traceable to the proceeds, of the unlawful activities of
Defendants, as alleged in paragraphs 1 through 18 above.

40.  Relief Defendants obtained the funds and property alleged above as part of and in
furtherance of the securities violations alleged in paragraphs 1 through 18 and under
circumstances in which it 1s not just, equitable or conscionable for them to retain the funds and

property. As a consequence, Relief Defendants were unjustly enriched.

RELIEF REQUESTED
41.  The Commission seeks the following relief:
42. An order of the Court preliminarily and permanently enjoining the Defendants,

their agents, servants, employees, attorneys and all persons in active concert or participation with
them who receive actual notice of the injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of
them, from future violations of Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act, [15 U.S.C. §§
77e(a), 77e(c) and 77q(a)], and Sections 10(b) and 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act, [15 U.S.C. §
78j(b) and § 780(a)(1)], and of Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] thereunder.

43, An order of the Court directing Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to the
funds and benefits obtained illegally as a result of the violations alleged, plus prejudgment
interest on that amount.

44, An order of the Court directing Defendants to file with the Court and serve upon
the Commission an accounting, under oath, detailing all commissions and other benefits received

based upon their sales of the securities identified in this Complaint.

SEC v. First Access Financial LLC, et al.
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45. An order of the Court directing Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties in an
amount determined as appropriate by the Court pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)] for their
violations of the federal securities laws as alleged herein.

46. An order of the Court directing Relief Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to
the funds and benefits obtained illegally as a result of the violations alleged.

47.  All further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

DATED: January 28, 2004 "‘?4«'«’/ M

Harold R. Loftin, Jvr/ Lt

Texas Bar No. 12487490

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900

801 Cherry Street, Unit #18

Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882

(817) 978-6490

(817) 978-4927 (fax)
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